

University Affairs Committee Meeting July 12, 2018 Agenda

I. Approval of April 19, 2018 Minutes

Action

- II. Academic Affairs
  - A. Part VIII Faculty Manual Revision

Action

B. Enrollment Management Taskforce Update

Information

- III. Research, Economic Development and Engagement
  - A. Division Reorganization

Information



## **Board of Trustees**

# **University Affairs Committee Meeting**

July 12, 2018

Agenda Item:	I. Approval of April 19, 2018 Minutes
Responsible Person:	Mark Copeland, Chair
Action Requested:	Approval
Notes:	N/A

## Minutes of the Meeting of the University Affairs Committee East Carolina University Board of Trustees

April 19, 2018 at 1:30pm

Board Members Attending: Full Board Attendance

Others ECU Leaders in Attendance: Cecil Staton, Ron Mitchelson, Virginia Hardy, Donna Payne, Phyllis Horns

Mr. Copeland opened the meeting at 1:50pm by reading the conflict of interest statement as well as the Jurisdiction Review and Conduct Statement for University Affairs.

The minutes from the previous meeting were approved.

#### Academic Affairs - Ron Mitchelson

- **Conferral of Degrees** Provost Mitchelson shared that we will 5,282 degrees for the spring commencement for spring and summer completion.
  - o Motion made by La'Quon Rogers. This motion was approved without dissent

#### • Online Heritage Hall Update – Gerald Prokopowicz

O He shared the current website for Heritage Hall and some history about the project and the timeline that led to this online portal creation. The physical Heritage Hall will be included in the new Student Services Building when it opens. He walked through the site and showed elements within the timelines, personal biographies, and features. The website was met with great approval from the Board members.

#### **Student Affairs – Virginia Hardy**

- Dr. Hardy introduced the conversation of mental health and college students. She talked about how this is a nationwide problem that is growing more severe each year. She shared that mental health isn't a Counseling or Student Affairs issue, this is a full campus issue. She introduced Jeremy Tuchmayer (SA Assessment) and Dr. Valerie Kisler-van Reede (Director of Counseling Center) to share national data, ECU data, trends and processes for how ECU addresses mental health. She shared that the presentation will end with an actual story from on ECU student that has been through the process and how Counseling services impacted her.
- Jeremy shared national data related to depression, self-injury, sexual assault, and suicide. He also discussed the types of issues that college students are bringing with them to campus including abuse, untreated mental illness, trauma at home, low self-esteem and family history of mental illness / depression. Valerie shared some data from the Association for University and College Counseling Center Directors related to psychotropic medications, top issues presenting on campus, and the severity of cases on the rise nationally. Jeremy discussed ECU trends and information from the National College Health Assessment. He shared some of the Non-Cognitive research and impacts currently taking place at ECU.
- Valerie showed some ECU specific data comparing the full Fall 2017 semester with Spring 2018 (from January to March) and also talked about how their change in the appointment process reduced patient wait time by two weeks. Valerie talked about the process for how

students get into the process for mental health. There are many options for a student to get connected including from ECU Cares, Faculty, Staff, roommates, friends, parents and self-reporting. She then provided a hypothetical scenario and demonstrated all the offices and touchpoints involved with a single student case. She concluded with sharing the options for a student once they have met with ECU counselors.

• The presentation concluded with ECU junior Shainah Andrews sharing her personal experience as she went through the Counseling process and how it helped her.

#### CLOSED SESSION - At 2:36pm La'Quon Rogers made a motion to move into Closed Session.

Meeting Returned to open session at 2:41pm

Meeting Adjourned at 2:55pm



## **Board of Trustees**

# **University Affairs Committee Meeting**

# July 12, 2018

Agenda item:	II.A. Part VIII – Faculty Manual Revision
Responsible Person:	Ron Mitchelson, Provost and Senior Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs
Action Requested:	Approval
Notes:	N/A

## Summary of Approved Revisions to ECU FACULTY MANUAL, PART VIII, SECTION I. Personnel Policies and Procedures for the Faculty of East Carolina University

#### Background:

After implementation in 2017 of the institution's revised tenure regulations contained in the *ECU Faculty Manual*, Part IX, it was necessary to update additional policies and procedures that coordinate with the tenure regulations. Faculty leaders and academic administrators collaborated to revise these documents, forums were held across campus to gather important feedback, comments and suggestions were considered, and appropriate revisions were incorporated. The final document, *ECU Faculty Manual*, Part VIII, Section I, complies with UNC policies and is consistent with relevant ECU policies and regulations.

#### Key Elements of Change from Existing Policy:

- 1) In the subsection related to determination of faculty positions, statements were included to clearly articulate that faculty should be involved in recommending the academic unit's needs to the administrative authorities.
- In the general criteria for selection and appointment of faculty, the following statement was added: "ECU is committed to recruiting, retaining, and developing faculty members that are highly accomplished in teaching and scholarship, including research and creative activities. Accordingly, research and creative activities that align with the institution's mission, engage students in effective ways, and advance our academic disciplines are an expectation of all tenured and probationary term (tenure track) faculty."
- 3) Consistent with the revised tenure regulations, the academic rank of Instructor was deleted for probationary term faculty appointments.
- 4) Titles for Fixed-term faculty appointments were expanded to reflect changes in the tenure eligibility status of faculty in the two academic libraries. In addition, the title of Senior Teaching Instructor was added to recognize exceptional long-term contributions of fixed-term faculty to the institution's academic programs.
- 5) Subsections related to Fixed-term appointments, which formerly duplicated information contained in Part IX, were revised to instead refer to Part IX.
- Throughout the various sections related to faculty responsibilities, references are made to expectat that faculty actively participate in the life of their unit, be physically present on campus to the extent necessary to effectively discharge their duties according to disciplinary norms, and to carry their fair load of assigned and assumed duties necessary for the effective and equitable operation of the unit.

- 7) Various references to salary increments and to benefits for faculty employees more clearly refer to required compliance with current State of North Carolina and University of North Carolina salary regulations.
- The provisions regarding information contained in the institution's faculty personnel related files, including definition, location, content, access, and protection of confidential information, was updated to comply with current North Carolina General Statutes. Institutional procedures for maintaining these various records were simplified, to include removing individual personnel file checklists and replacing them with a comprehensive list of locations where related files may be found. The comprehensive list will be updated as necessary and is located on Division websites (Academic Affairs and Health Sciences, respectively) that is accessible to faculty members.

#### Faculty Senate Resolution #18-41

Approved by the Faculty Senate: April 24, 2018

Approved by the Chancellor: May 25, 2018, after edits were agreed upon on June 21, 2018

Revisions to the *ECU Faculty Manual*, Part VIII, Section I. Personnel Policies and Procedures for the Faculty of East Carolina University, as follows:

The proposed document would **replace** what is currently in the *ECU Faculty Manual* linked <u>here</u>.

"Personnel Policies and Procedures for the Faculty of East Carolina University

(For other policies and procedures dealing with faculty appointments, see *ECU Faculty Manual*, Part IX and Part X.)

#### **CONTENTS**

- I. Selection and Appointment of New Faculty
  - A. Determination of Number and Nature of Positions
  - B. Selection Procedure
  - C. General Criteria
  - D. Requirements for ranks and titles
  - E. Initial Appointment
- II. Assignments of Faculty Workload
  - A. Assignment of Teaching Responsibilities
  - B. Teaching Load
  - C. Assignment of Released Time
- III. Annual Evaluation
- IV. Reappointment of Probationary Term Faculty Members
- V. Subsequent New Appointments of Fixed-Term Faculty Members
- VI. Professional Advancement
- VII. Salary
  - A. Initial Salary
  - B. Determination of Annual Salary Increments
  - C. Benefits and Salary Increases for Fixed-Term Faculty
- VIII. Faculty Personnel Files
- IX. Amendment Procedure
- X. Effective Date
- I. Selection and Appointment of New Faculty
  - A. Determination of Number and Nature of Positions
    Since faculty members of each academic unit are responsible for the curriculum, they shall make recommendations on the personnel needs of the unit.

Acting in accord with the policies and procedures set forth in the Unit Code, the unit administrator shall recommend, with input from the faculty, to the next higher administrator (for conveyance to the Academic Council) the number and nature of faculty positions needed to carry out the unit's mission and achieve the university, division, college and unit planning goals. Such recommendations shall contain justifications addressing the unit staffing plan and appropriate planning goals of the university, division, college, and unit.

Allocation of faculty positions is the prerogative of the Academic Council. The deans and directors shall determine the distribution of positions within their college and schools in accordance with strategic priorities.

In general, tenured and probationary term (tenure-track) positions are preferred unless sound reasons exist. Such reasons include, but are not limited to; (a) the position is not permanently assigned to the unit, (b) the position is addressing temporary needs, (c) the position cannot be filled by a faculty member with a terminal degree, (d) the duties of the position are primarily clinical, (e) the position is by its nature term-limited (term-limited endowed professorships, for example), (f) this reflects the preference of the faculty member taking the position, or (g) budgetary or strategic considerations.

#### B. Selection Procedure

The selection of candidates must be conducted in accordance with the University's "Recruitment, Guidelines and Resources" policies, *Part IX, Section I. Tenure and Promotion Policies and Procedures*, and applicable unit code provisions.

#### C. General Criteria

ECU is committed to recruiting, retaining, and developing faculty members that are highly accomplished in teaching and scholarship, including research and creative activities. Accordingly, research and creative activities that align with the institution's mission, engage students in effective ways, and advance our academic disciplines are an expectation of all tenured and probationary (tenure-track) faculty members.

# Tenured or Probationary-Term Positions A candidate who is under consideration for a tenured or probationary-term position is evaluated on past achievements and potential for future contributions in teaching, scholarship, service, and, if applicable, contributions to patient care and related clinical responsibilities as described below:

#### a. Teaching

East Carolina University recognizes the primary importance of teaching. East Carolina University expects each member of the faculty to have knowledge of subject matter commensurate with one's teaching assignment, to maintain awareness of developments in one's discipline, and to communicate to students one's knowledge of and interest in the discipline. The faculty member will encourage students in responsible and careful inquiry, in appreciation of the interrelation of various disciplines, and in recognition of the uses of learning and the value of the educated mind. Teaching includes instructional activities and responsibilities beyond the classroom setting, e.g., advisement; mentoring; laboratory supervision; clinical rounds by a physician/professor accompanied by students; program direction; the direction of research projects and papers, dissertations, and theses; and other contacts and relationships outside the classroom.

b. Scholarship (Research, Creative Activity/Innovation, Engagement, and/or Outreach) Scholarship refers to the scholarship of research, the scholarship of creative activity/innovation, and the scholarship of engagement and/or outreach.

- c. Service to the university, the profession, and the community East Carolina University considers service to the university, the academic profession, and the community as an important aspect of a faculty member's contribution. Expectations for service shall be described in the unit code. (See Section III.4). Faculty members' on-campus presence is expected to the extent necessary in the performance of these responsibilities.
- d. Patient care and related clinical responsibilities, as appropriate

#### 2. Fixed-Term Positions

A candidate who is under consideration for a fixed-term position is evaluated on past achievements and potential for future contributions in the areas of responsibility stated in the advertisement for the position and established in the unit code.

#### D. Requirements for ranks and titles

#### 1. General Provisions

Appointments are made at the academic ranks of assistant professor, associate professor, and professor. These are the only ranks that may involve a permanent tenure commitment. Appointments to all other titles are for a definite term and do not involve a permanent tenure commitment.

The following are the minimum required qualifications that may be considered when making appointments.

#### 2. Ranks of Probationary Term Appointments

Assistant Professor

- has demonstrated potential for effective teaching and other instructional responsibilities
- has demonstrated potential to develop a program of scholarship that will lead to professional recognition in the discipline
- has demonstrated effective clinical practice in disciplines, where appropriate
- holds the appropriate terminal degree (ABD may be considered for initial appointment) or alternate professional qualifications as determined by the units and the profession and affirmed by the appropriate vice chancellor
- exhibits evidence of potential for professional growth in teaching effectiveness and scholarship
- has demonstrated ability and willingness to participate in departmental, college, and university affairs
- has demonstrated active engagement with professional organizations within the discipline

#### Associate Professor

- has qualifications of the previous rank
- has demonstrated effectiveness in teaching and/or other instructional responsibilities
- has a record of scholarship resulting in publication and/or scholarly productivity appropriate to the discipline and established by the unit code
- has a demonstrated record of effective service to the university
- has a demonstrated record of effective service to the profession

#### Professor

- · has qualifications of the previous rank
- has an established record of excellence in teaching and other instructional responsibilities
- has a significant record of scholarship resulting in publication and/or other scholarly productivity appropriate to the discipline and established in the unit code.

- has demonstrated excellent ability and willingness to participate in departmental, college, and university affairs
- has a demonstrated record of significant service/clinical practice to the university and the discipline, where appropriate

### 3. Titles of Fixed-Term Appointments

a. Faculty members with duties primarily in instruction have titles of Teaching Instructor, Senior Teaching Instructor, Teaching Assistant Professor, Teaching Associate Professor or Teaching Professor.

Fixed Term Librarians are called Library Assistant Professor, Library Associate Professor, or Library Professor. Unit codes define expectations for each title. The following general criteria apply to both titles:

Teaching Instructor

- holds, at a minimum, a master's degree appropriate to the area of instruction, or has equivalent professional qualifications
- has demonstrated potential for effective teaching and/or other instructional responsibilities

Senior Teaching Instructor

- has qualifications of the previous title
- has demonstrated excellence in teaching and/or other instructional responsibilities
- engages in professional development activity

**Teaching Assistant Professor** 

- has qualifications of the previous title
- holds the appropriate terminal degree, or alternate professional qualifications, as evaluated by the academic unit and affirmed by the appropriate vice chancellor and the profession concerned
- has demonstrated effectiveness in teaching

Teaching Associate Professor

- has qualifications of the previous title
- has demonstrated superior teaching ability and/or other instructional responsibilities
- engages in professional development activities

Teaching Professor

- has qualifications of the previous title
- has demonstrated excellence in teaching
- has established an excellent professional reputation among colleagues
- is qualified and competent in mentoring others (such as graduate students, teaching instructors, etc.)
- b. Faculty members with duties primarily in research

Research faculty members are typically funded externally. Research faculty members are encouraged to give seminars and teach occasional courses in their specialty. Teaching is at the discretion of the unit and the availability of funds.

Research Instructor

- holds a minimum of a master's degree appropriate for the specific position or has alternate professional qualifications.
- has demonstrated potential for effective research
- should be capable of carrying out individual research or should be trained in research procedures
- should have the experience and specialized training necessary to develop and interpret data required for success in such research projects as may be undertaken

Research Assistant Professor

- · has qualifications of the previous title
- holds the appropriate terminal degree, or alternate professional qualifications, as evaluated by the academic unit and affirmed by the appointing officer and the profession concerned
- has demonstrated effectiveness in research
- is qualified and competent to direct the work of others (such as. technicians, graduate students, etc.)

#### Research Associate Professor

- has qualifications of the previous title
- has extensive successful experience in scholarly or creative endeavors
- has the ability to propose, develop, and manage major research projects Research Professor.
- has qualifications of the previous title
- has established an excellent reputation among colleagues
- has demonstrated scholarly production in research, publications, professional achievements, or other distinguished and creative activity.
- c. Faculty members with duties primarily in clinical teaching

#### Clinical Instructor

- holds, at a minimum, a graduate degree appropriate for the specific position or has equivalent professional experience
- has demonstrated potential in clinical practice and teaching in the field

#### Clinical Assistant Professor

- has qualifications of the previous title
- holds the appropriate professional degree, as evaluated by the academic unit and affirmed by the appropriate vice chancellor and the profession concerned
- has training and experience in an area of specialization
- has demonstrated expertise in clinical practice and teaching and other instructional responsibilities in the discipline

#### Clinical Associate Professor

- has qualifications of the previous title
- has extensive successful experience in clinical or professional practice in an area of specialization, or in a subdivision of the specialty area, and in working with and/or directing others (such as professionals, faculty members, graduate students, etc.) in clinical activities in the field

#### Clinical Professor

- has qualifications of the previous title
- has established an outstanding reputation of excellence in clinical practice and teaching and/or other instructional responsibilities
- d. Faculty members with duties primarily in the libraries

#### Library Assistant Professor

- holds the appropriate terminal degree, or alternate professional qualifications, as evaluated by the academic unit and affirmed by the appropriate vice chancellor
- has demonstrated evidence of, or potential for, the following: effective teaching and/or other professional responsibilities; collegiality and professional integrity; continued professional growth; service to the Library; service to the University, and/or to the profession; a record of contributions to scholarship/creative activity, if applicable

#### Library Associate Professor

has qualifications of the previous title

- has demonstrated: substantive accomplishments in professional performance; collegiality and professional integrity; substantial and continued professional growth; sustained institutional; and professional service
- has a record of regular contributions to scholarship/creative activity

#### Library Professor

- has qualifications of the previous title
- has demonstrated: sustained and substantive accomplishments in professional performance; collegiality and professional integrity
- has demonstrated: superior knowledge and mastery of assigned area of specialization; and exemplary institutional and professional service;
- has attained national or international recognition as an authority and leader in the assigned area of specialization;
- has a sustained and substantive record of scholarship/creative activity

#### e. Additional faculty titles

Adjunct Instructor; Adjunct Assistant Professor; Adjunct Associate Professor; Adjunct Professor: These titles are used to appoint outstanding persons who have a primary employment responsibility outside the university or in a different department in the university and who bring some specific professional expertise to the academic program. These positions are typically unfunded.

Affiliate Instructor; Affiliate Assistant Professor; Affiliate Associate Professor; Affiliate Professor: These titles are used in the School of Medicine to appoint outstanding persons who have a primary employment responsibility outside the university and who bring some specific professional expertise to the academic program. These positions are typically unfunded.

Artist-in-Residence; Writer-in-Residence: These titles are used to designate temporary appointments, at any salary and experience level, of persons who are serving for a limited time or part-time and who are not intended to be considered for professorial appointment.

Visiting Instructor; Visiting Assistant Professor; Visiting Associate Professor; Visiting Professor. The prefix "visiting" before an academic title is used to designate a short-term full-time or part-time appointment without tenure. Therefore, the visiting title shall not be used for periods of time beyond the initial contract period. It shall be used only for those fixed-term faculty members who are visitors, temporary replacements, or for whose disciplines the institution in good faith expects to have only a short-term need. Use of the visiting title for an individual for more than 3 years is a misuse of this title.

#### 4. Emeritus status

All unit codes must specify criteria for conferring of "emeritus" or "emerita" status. Based on those criteria specified in the unit code and the recommendations of the unit personnel committee and appropriate administrators, the Chancellor may confer the title emeritus or emerita upon a retired (including Phased Retirement participant), permanently disabled, or deceased faculty member, who has made a significant contribution to the university through a long and distinguished record of scholarship, teaching, and/or service (FS Resolution #13-97, December 2013).

#### E. Initial Appointment

[For additional provisions related to initial faculty appointments, see *ECU Faculty Manual*, Part IX, Section I (II).]

Appointment to the faculty is made by the Chancellor or the Chancellor's designee. Upon receiving recommendations by appropriate unit committees and administrators, the Chancellor or his/her designee shall issue an appointment letter to the faculty candidate. No offer is binding and no appointment is effective until signed by the Chancellor or the Chancellor's designee and subsequently signed by the faculty appointee.

The appointment letter shall specify, at minimum: rank or title; salary rate; length of appointment, tenure status [either fixed-term, probationary-term, or appointment with permanent tenure, as defined in the *Faculty Manual*, Part IX]; initial assignments and/or responsibilities; reference to the criteria for evaluation of faculty performance, as provided in Part IX, unit codes, and other appropriate documents; and any specific terms and conditions of employment.

Any action conferring permanent tenure with the initial faculty appointment requires approval of the Board of Trustees.

## II. Assignments of Faculty Workload

Faculty workload is governed by the Faculty Workload Administrative Regulation.

By the end of the spring semester for 9-month faculty, and by the end of the summer session for 12-month faculty, and prior to making final faculty workload assignments and after soliciting faculty preferences, the unit administrator shall apprise each unit faculty member, in writing, of the duties and responsibilities for the coming academic year.

#### A. Teaching Responsibilities

The unit administrator assigns teaching responsibilities and determines the method of delivery. If changes in a faculty member's assignment subsequently become necessary, the faculty member shall be notified at the earliest possible opportunity.

The definition of a semester credit hour is governed by PRR #02.07.01.

Full-time faculty members whose primary responsibilities are teaching and other instructional responsibilities should not be required to teach more than the equivalent of 12 credit hours per semester or 6 credit hours per summer session, as consistent with the discipline norms, with the exception of faculty members who voluntarily teach directed readings and similar courses. If exceptional circumstances require that a faculty member be assigned more than the equivalent of 12 credit hours in a semester, he or she should be appropriately compensated for the excess teaching load during that term or be given the equivalent reduced teaching load at a time to be negotiated between the unit administrator and the faculty member.

Consistent with Part VI, Section I.II., faculty members teaching one or more courses must maintain five hours of office hours during the workweek. Faculty members are also expected to be on campus an appropriate number of hours consistent with assigned instructional duties and disciplinary norms.

#### B. Scholarly Responsibilities

A faculty member's scholarship shall reflect the high professional standards incumbent upon those who enjoy full academic freedom; such activities must be measured by standards of quality, not merely by quantity, as appropriate to the discipline. Faculty members shall fulfill their scholarly responsibilities as outlined in the unit code and consistent with overall assigned duties.

#### C. Service Responsibilities

Each faculty member will be assigned and/or will assume responsibilities to serve diverse service roles in the department/program, the college, the university, the

profession and/or the community in consultation with their unit administrator. These roles may include formal service in committees at various levels or informal activities, such as mentoring students or junior faculty members. Consequently, as appropriate in each unit, faculty members are expected to actively participate in the life of their unit, be physically present on campus to the extent necessary to discharge their particular service duties, and to carry their fair load of assigned and assumed duties necessary for the effective and equitable operation of the unit.

D. Patient Care and Related Clinical Responsibilities, as appropriate Standards are described in the unit code.

Faculty reassigned time is governed by <u>Faculty Scholarly Reassignment</u>
Administrative Regulation. Faculty members who are to be granted reassigned time shall be informed in writing of the purpose of the reassignment. (FS Resolution #14-04, March 2014)

#### III. Annual Evaluation

Each faculty member with either a fixed term, probationary term, or permanently tenured appointment shall perform his/her duties according to ECU's <a href="Statement on Professional">Statement on Professional</a>
<a href="Ethics">Ethics</a> and shall receive annually an evaluation of his/her performance from the unit administrator which shall be based upon current academic year data. The annual performance evaluation of faculty members shall employ the criteria contained in the unit code approved by the chancellor.

The process for determining the relative weight given to teaching, scholarship, service, and where appropriate, clinical duties, for purposes of annual evaluations shall be contained in the unit code. In no case, however, shall service be weighed more heavily than either teaching or scholarship.

This annual evaluation shall:

- be in writing;
- be discussed with the faculty member prior to being sent to any other administrator or placed in the faculty member's personnel file; in the case of faculty members with probationary term appointments, a record of this discussion shall be placed in the faculty member's personnel file;
- be signed and dated by the unit administrator and the faculty member, who may attach to the
  evaluation a concise comment regarding the evaluation. The faculty member has seven
  working days after receiving the evaluation to attach the statement. The signature of the faculty
  member signifies that he or she has read the evaluation, but it does not necessarily indicate
  concurrence.

The unit administrator shall forward to each faculty member a copy of that member's annual evaluation within ten calendar days of completing the evaluations of unit members.

## A. Probationary-term and permanently tenured faculty

The evaluation of probationary-term and permanently-tenured faculty members shall be based upon that year's duties and responsibilities (except data from the previous year's spring semester survey of student opinion). Such evaluations shall consider, as appropriate:

Teaching and Other Instructional Responsibilities
 Teaching is the primary function of the university. Teaching may include classroom and laboratory instruction, student advising, mentoring student research, and other instructional

activities. Teaching and other instructional responsibilities must be evaluated using multiple methods selected from the list below:

- a. review by the unit administrator and/or peers of course materials such as syllabi, reading lists, teaching outlines, audiovisual materials, student manuals, student assignments and examinations, and/or other materials prepared for or relevant to teaching.
- b. samples of student work on assignments, projects, papers, juries, or other examples of student achievement.
- c. formal methods of peer review, including direct observation of teaching utilizing the appropriate university approved format (including direct observation of the teaching of new and tenure-track faculty). Methods to be used for this peer review are detailed in Faculty Senate resolution #93-44. The peer review instrument is provided in Faculty Senate resolution #16-60. The peer review instrument for on-line courses is provided in Faculty Senate resolution #11-53.
- d. direct observation of teaching by the unit administrator.
- e. review of student opinion data from course evaluations.
- f. other procedures provided for in unit codes (FS Resolution #12-76, July 2012).

#### 2. Scholarship

Measures of success in the area of scholarship include, but are not limited to, peer-reviewed publications, books, presentations, performances, patents, and national awards, including both honorary awards and competitively awarded external funding as appropriate to the discipline. These measures, and particularly national awards that recognize prominence in the discipline, will be positively reflected in annual evaluations and other personnel actions. Unit codes should define these criteria, and relative importance, in detail.

3. Patient Care and Related Clinical Responsibilities
Unit codes will describe expectations for clinical services and criteria for evaluation.

#### 4. Service

Service on department, school, college, and university committees, councils, and senates; service to professional organizations; service to local, state and national governments; contributions to the development of public forums, institutes, continuing education projects, patient services and consulting in the private and public sectors; unit codes should define these criteria, and relative importance, in detail.

5. Other assigned responsibilities.

#### B. Fixed-term faculty members

The evaluation of fixed-term faculty members shall be based on their performance of duties as stated in their appointment letters, utilizing the criteria stated in the unit code.

- IV. Reappointment of Probationary-Term Faculty Members Refer to Part IX of the *ECU Faculty Manual*.
- V. Subsequent appointments of Fixed-Term Faculty Members Refer to Part IX of the *Faculty Manual*.

#### VI. Professional Advancement

Promotion for tenured and probationary-term faculty members and advancement in title for fixed-term faculty members are means through which professional achievement is encouraged, recognized, and rewarded by the university. The evaluation of faculty members for purposes of promotion or advancement in title shall accord with the regulations established in the unit code

and shall employ the criteria contained in the unit code approved by the Chancellor (*ECU Faculty Manual*, Part IV).

Specific regulations and criteria governing evaluation of faculty for purposes of promotion or advancement in title may vary from unit to unit. For evaluations pertaining to fixed-term subsequent new appointment at a higher title, the criteria shall be stated in the unit code.

As a minimum, each unit shall:

- apply published criteria in teaching, scholarship, service, and clinical service, where relevant to the discipline, for evaluating faculty for promotion or advancement in title;
- make available procedures which will permit each faculty member to report achievements annually or on a more frequent basis; and
- inform each faculty member of the right to discuss his or her candidacy with the unit administrator and/or the appropriate unit committee at any time prior to the deadline for submission of materials.
- A. Promotion for tenured and probationary-term faculty members
  Upon request by a tenured faculty member, the unit administrator and the unit promotion
  committee shall evaluate the faculty member for promotion. Following such evaluations, the
  unit administrator and appropriate unit committee shall inform the faculty member of their
  respective recommendations. Promotion shall be based upon the faculty member's
  demonstrated professional competence and achievements. Procedures to be followed for
  promotion are found in *ECU Faculty Manual*, Part IX and Part X.

Promotion in academic rank should be accompanied by a salary increment, which shall be separate from any and all other increments to which the individual may be entitled, unless State of North Carolina or University of North Carolina regulations state otherwise.

B. Advancement in title for fixed-term faculty members

The unit code shall specify the criteria and the means of evaluation of fixed-term faculty
members to be used for a subsequent new appointment at a higher title. Advancement in title
shall be based upon the faculty member's demonstrated professional competence and
achievements, and should be accompanied by a salary increment, which shall be separate
from any and all other increments to which the individual may be entitled, unless State of North
Carolina or University of North Carolina regulations state otherwise. Competence for
advancement in title may be attested to by demonstrated excellence in the performance of
duties specified in the appointment letter of the fixed-term faculty member and supported by
the faculty member's annual performance evaluation.

The unit administrator shall notify eligible faculty members within four working days of receipt of the next higher administrator's call for advancement in title recommendations. Upon request by a fixed-term faculty member, the unit administrator and the personnel committee shall evaluate the faculty member for advancement in title. Following such evaluations, the unit administrator and appropriate unit committee shall inform the faculty member of their respective recommendations. Procedures to be followed for advancement in title should be specified in the unit code in accordance with *ECU Faculty Manual*, Part IX, Section I (II.B.3) and Part VIII, Section I.

#### VII. Salary

A. Initial Salary

Initial salary shall be based on degree attainment, academic rank, pertinent professional experience and qualifications, scholarly publication or its equivalent, and level of responsibility.

Consideration should be given to the salaries of personnel presently in the unit and must be consistent with University-established faculty salary ranges.

### B. Determination of Annual Salary Increments

The unit administrator shall recommend annual salary increments to the appropriate administrative officials in accordance with requirements imposed by the North Carolina General Assembly, The University of North Carolina Board of Governors, the ECU Board of Trustees, and the university administration. Recommended salary adjustments shall rely upon criteria that have been established in the *Faculty Manual*, in unit codes, or in guidelines referenced in unit codes. Criteria for assessing merit are contained in unit codes. The unit administrator shall also inform the unit, in dollar amounts and percentages, the total adjustment, mean salary increment, and range in salary increments for the unit. Each faculty member shall be informed by the unit administrator of any salary increment recommendations made on behalf of the faculty member.

# C. Benefits and Salary Increases for Fixed-Term Faculty

Equitability of salary and benefits for fixed-term faculty members should be reviewed annually. When salary increments are provided by the Board of Governors, full-time fixed-term faculty members who have completed one year of employment and have received a subsequent new appointment should be considered for a salary increase based upon their annual evaluation and criteria established by the Board of Governors, ECU Board of Trustees, and the unit code.

Full-time, fixed-term permanently appointed faculty members are entitled to those benefits that are provided to other full-time permanent faculty employees of ECU, unless State of North Carolina or University of North Carolina regulations state otherwise.

#### VIII. Faculty Personnel Files

A. <u>Article 7 of Chapter 126</u> of the General Statute of North Carolina shall govern matters relating to an employee's personnel file, its contents, and permissible access. Current General Statutes may be requested through the Office of University Counsel (formerly, the University Attorney) or through references in Joyner Library.

For questions regarding personnel file, contact the Faculty Senate Office, the appropriate Division Vice Chancellor, or the University Counsel Office.

#### B. Definition

"Personnel File" means any employment-related or personal information gathered by an employer or by the Office of State Human Resources. Employment-related information contained in a personnel file includes information related to an individual's application, selection, promotion, demotion, transfer, leave, salary, contract for employment, benefits, suspension, performance evaluation, disciplinary actions, and termination. Personal information contained in a personnel file includes an individual's home address, social security number, medical history, personal financial data, marital status, dependents, and beneficiaries. "Record," as used in this Part VIII of the *Faculty Manual*, means the personnel information that each employer is required to maintain in accordance with G.S. 126-123.

The Personnel Action Dossier (PAD), defined in the ECU Faculty Manual Part X, Section I, is an evaluative document, employment-related personnel information, and a part of the faculty member's personnel file. The personnel file is University property and is retained by the University.

Contents of the personnel file are kept in accordance with the Records Retention and Disposition Schedule approved by the Chancellor. Timing of storage and transfer vary depending on the specific type of document. (See <a href="http://www.ecu.edu/cs-lib/recordsmanagement/ecugeneralschedule.cfm">http://www.ecu.edu/cs-lib/recordsmanagement/ecugeneralschedule.cfm</a> for reference).

#### C. Location

Personnel records exist in various locations across campus. Academic Affairs and the Health Sciences divisions will maintain comprehensive lists of locations where files may be found on a website accessible to faculty members. The Faculty Senate office can direct faculty members to the appropriate website.

All records used in the formal evaluation of faculty members should be located in the primary collection of documents that are kept in the department or unit that are part of the personnel file, hereafter referred to as the department/unit personnel file. The unit administrator can inform the faculty member of the location of evaluative material.

An appeal hearing file or an investigative file prepared by the EEO Office or by the Office of University Counsel may include materials such as: filed grievances; appeals of non-reappointment or non-conferral of tenure; complaints filed by or against a faculty member with the ECU EEO Office alleging sexual harassment, discrimination based on race/ethnicity, color, genetic information, national origin, religion, sex (including pregnancy and pregnancy related conditions), sexual orientation, gender identity, age, disability, political affiliation, and veteran status ("Protected Class"), or a violation of the amorous relations policy; and records relating to any disciplinary action against a faculty member.

Information retained in the EEO Office or the University Counsel's Office will remain confidential, but the documents collected and/or created in those offices are usually considered part of an investigative/preparation file and are not considered part of the department/unit personnel file. Disclosure of documents in those files is subject to applicable University policies and state laws. Additionally, in accordance with the relevant University policy and state laws, the University will formally notify the faculty member of any complaint or grievance formally filed against a faculty member and will follow the procedures prescribed for due process. In most cases, documents containing employment-related or personal information maintained in the EEO Office or University Counsel's Office will be duplicates of documents in the department/unit personnel file. In all cases, the documents in those files will be available for review by the faculty member, except that the University does not waive rights and responsibilities to limit disclosure recognized by law, including but not limited to attorney-client communication privilege and attorney work product privilege.

#### D. Content

State law requires that the University permit the public to have access to the following employment related information about each employee:

- name;
- age;
- date of original employment or appointment to state service;
- the terms of any contract by which the employee is employed whether written or oral, past and current, to the extent that the university has the written contract or a record of the oral contract in its possession;
- current position;
- title:
- · current salary;

- date and amount of each increase or decrease in salary with the university;
- date and type of each promotion, demotion, transfer, suspension, separation, or other change in position classification with the university;
- date and general description of the reasons for each promotion with the university;
- date and type of each dismissal, suspension, or demotion for disciplinary reasons taken
  by the university. If the disciplinary action was a dismissal, a copy of the written notice
  of the final decision of the Chancellor setting forth the specific acts or omissions that are
  the basis of the dismissal; and
- the office to which the employee is currently assigned.

To the extent allowed by applicable law (e.g., <u>Article 7 of Chapter 126</u> of the General Statutes of North Carolina), all other information contained in the personnel file is confidential and shall not be open for inspection and examination except to the following persons:

- (1) The employee, applicant for employment, former employee, or his or her properly authorized agent, who may examine his or her own personnel file in its entirety except for (i) letters of reference solicited prior to employment or (ii) information concerning a medical disability, mental or physical, that a prudent physician would not divulge to a patient. An employee's medical record may be disclosed to a licensed physician designated in writing by the employee;
- (2) The supervisor of the employee;
- (3) A potential state or local government supervisor, during the interview process, only with regard to the performance management documents;
- (4) Members of the General Assembly who may inspect and examine personnel records under the authority of G.S. 120-19;
- (5) A party by authority of a proper court order may inspect and examine a particular confidential portion of a State employee's personnel file; and
- (6) An official of an agency of the federal government, state government, or any political subdivision thereof. Such an official may inspect any personnel records when such inspection is deemed by the department head of the employee whose record is to be inspected or, in the case of an applicant for employment or a former employee, by the department head of the agency in which the record is maintained as necessary and essential to the pursuance of a proper function of said agency; provided, however, that such information shall not be divulged for purposes of assisting in a criminal prosecution, nor for purposes of assisting in a tax investigation; and
- (7) Any person or corporation to which the Chancellor determines release of such information is essential as allowed by General Statute §126-24.

Evaluative materials or summaries thereof prepared by peer committees as part of a regular evaluation system are placed in the department/unit personnel file when signed by a representative of the committee. In particular, official copies of Personnel Action Dossiers, as outlined in Part X of the ECU Faculty Manual, including documentation submitted by faculty members for consideration in the tenure, reappointment, and promotion processes, shall reside in the department/unit personnel file.

No material obtained from an anonymous source shall be placed in the -personnel file except for data from student opinion surveys. Data from student opinion surveys shall be submitted by the authorized surveying agent to the faculty member and the unit administrator. Administrators shall not keep secret files.

A faculty member who objects to material in the department/unit personnel file or other employment-related or personal information contained in the personnel file may place in the file a statement relating to the material the faculty member considers to be inaccurate or misleading. This concise statement shall be submitted to the custodian for inclusion as an attachment to the specific document. A faculty member who objects to material in the personnel file because it is inaccurate or misleading may seek the removal of such material from the personnel file in accordance with Part XII of the *Faculty Manual*.

#### E. Access

Personnel records may be located at various locations across campus. The personnel offices of Academic Affairs and the Health Sciences divisions will maintain comprehensive lists of locations where files may be found.

Faculty members may obtain access to their departmental/unit personnel file by submitting advance notice of at least 4 calendar days to the unit administrator. Confidential documents, as specified in D.1 (above), will be removed. The faculty member may request the unit administrator's assistance in gathering files from various locations. The unit administrator must make arrangements to have office staff available to oversee the review process to ensure the integrity and safekeeping of the records and to assist in making copies of the file, if applicable. A faculty member may obtain copies of any materials contained in the personnel file subject only to restrictions provided by state law.

#### F. Disclosure of Confidential Information

Willful disclosure of confidential information or unauthorized access to a personnel file by any person violates state law and university regulations and may result in disciplinary action under university regulations. Any public official, employee, agent, University contractor, student worker, intern, or volunteer who knowingly and willfully permits these violations but does not act to address them has neglected his or her duties and may also be disciplined in accordance with university regulations.

#### IX. Amendment Procedure

Amendment procedures are subject to the University's Regulation on Policies, Rules, and Regulations. The Faculty Senate will consider amendments to *ECU Faculty Manual*, Part VIII, Section I - Personnel Policies and Procedures that are proposed by any full-time member of the faculty, by any faculty committee, or by any member of the administration of East Carolina University. Amendment(s) submitted to the Faculty Senate for consideration shall be handled as any other item of legislation that comes before the Senate. If the Senate approves such a proposed amendment, the Senate shall submit the proposed amendment to the Chancellor and, if approved by the Chancellor, the amendment will be forwarded to the Board of Trustees for its approval. Consideration by the Board of Trustees is not required if the Chancellor has final authority to enact the amendment.

#### X. Effective Date

All provisions of these policies and procedures shall become effective on the date they are approved by the East Carolina University Board of Trustees or its designee.

(FS Resolution #11-94, November 2011; FS Resolution #12-76, April 2012; FS Resolution #14-04, March 2014; FS Resolution #18-41, June 2018)



## **Board of Trustees**

# **University Affairs Committee Meeting**

# July 12, 2018

Agenda Item:	II.B. Enrollment Management Taskforce Update
Responsible Person:	Ron Mitchelson, Provost and Senior Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs
Action Requested:	None - Information
Notes:	N/A



## **Board of Trustees**

# **University Affairs Committee Meeting**

July 12, 2018

Agenda Item:	III.A. Division Reorganization
Responsible Person:	Jay Golden, Vice Chancellor for Research, Economic Development and Engagement
Action Requested:	None - Information
Notes:	N/A